
 
 

    The Bridge Academy - 2023-2024 | 3 

APPENDIX A: 2023-24 CHARTER SCHOOL ANNUAL REPORT  

 

PART 1: SCHOOL INFORMATION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Name of Charter School: Year School Opened: 
The Bridge Academy 1997 
Street Address: City/Zip Code: 
160 Pulaski Street Bridgeport, CT 06608 
School Director: School Director Contact Information:  
Tyrone Elliott tyrone.elliott@bridgeacademy.org / 203-336-9999 
Grades Authorized to Serve in 2022-2023: Charter Term: 
7-12 2022-2025 
1. School Performance Best Practices: In 250 words or less, describe the practice or practices in use at the 

school that have resulted in strong student outcomes and a positive school climate during the 2023-2024 
school year. Explain the rationale for establishing the practice(s) and the issue(s) it was intended to address. 
Describe the impact of the practice(s) on the student outcomes, providing evidence to substantiate 
effectiveness (i.e. quantitative, qualitative data). Provide evidence of collaboration with local school districts 
as appropriate. 
 

Three years ago we wrote a grant in order to engage a school improvement partner to support us in our 
mission of continuous growth for all stakeholders.  The grant allowed us to work with SchoolWorks, an 
international organization devoted to supporting schools in moving from “good to great”.  We have now 
been working with SchoolWorks for two and a half years.  Each year two SchoolWorks representatives 
conduct an intensive two day School Quality Review in which they observe classes, meet with students, 
staff, parents, administrators and Board members, and review achievement results and documents such 
as meeting minutes, the school newsletter, parent communications, etc.    
 
In this year’s School Quality Review, we once again maintained or increased our scores on all 18 indicators, 
which cover such items as instruction, governance and family engagement.  Teachers also maintained or 
increased their scores on all 10 indicators of our observation protocol, the Classroom Visit Tool (CVT).  Our 
greatest increases were in the areas of Focused Instruction and Assessment, which we have devoted 
considerable professional development to improving.  Our work with SchoolWorks inspired us to start a 
teacher-led Teaching and Learning Committee which is charged with creating and presenting our 
Professional Development (PD).  This initiative has led not only to improvements in instruction as 
evidenced by our increased scores on our walkthrough protocol, the Classroom Visit Tool (CVT), but also to 
positive changes in staff perception of PD.  In the 2021-2022 school year, 57% of staff agreed or strongly 
agreed on our end of year climate survey that the PD they received taught them strategies that improved 
their instruction; on our most recent survey that number was 75%.  
 
We offer a robust early college program.  All high school students with a GPA of 3.0 or higher are invited to 
take an 8 week college class with either Housatonic Community College or Post University.  For the past 
several years all seniors have taken a college level Financial Literacy class. Starting next year, all juniors will 
take a College Success Seminar.   A future goal of this program is for students to be able to obtain an 
associate’s degree by the time they graduate from Bridge. 
 

mailto:tyrone.elliott@bridgeacademy.org
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We continue to prioritize the social emotional learning and mental health of our students.  Toward that 
end, we hired a full-time Social Emotional Learning (SEL) Coordinator at the beginning of the 2021-2022 
school year who continues to support student social-emotional skill building and mental health.  Using 
funds from the Mental Health Workers grant from the CT Department of Education, we were also able to 
hire a second school counselor in the 23-24 school year to focus on the middle school.  In addition, using 
another grant from the CT Department of Education Bureau of Health, Nutrition and Family Services, we 
were able to contract with ACES to employ a behavior analyst twice a week. 
 
Using a grant from Catalyst: Ed and working with Improve, a management consulting organization, our SEL 
coordinator created two social emotional surveys, both of which we piloted in the 22-23 school year.  One 
is a mood screener given to students twice a week.  Students are asked such questions as what their mood 
is that day, how many hours they slept that night, if they were feeling stressed and, if so, what was causing 
that stress.  These screeners are anonymous and give us interesting trend data that allows us to tailor 
lessons for each grade.  For example, we learned that while 8th graders were feeling most stress due to 
school, 7th graders were feeling stressed about interpersonal issues.  Each mood screener also invites 
students to reach out to any of our three social workers or two school counselors for support that 
day.  The benchmark assessment was given twice this year in the fall and spring.   We learned from this 
assessment that two areas that students self-report needing the most help with are self-efficacy and stress 
management; this information will help guide our approach to social emotional learning next 
year.   Students also received  weekly “Thoughtful Thursday” lessons on social emotional learning and 
executive function skills delivered by our social workers and school counselor.  We also continued to 
partner with community organizations such as Child Guidance, Janus Center, and Full Circle Youth 
Empowerment in order to ensure that students and families receive the mental health support that they 
need.  Lastly, we have many local support contacts linked on our website, bridgeacademy.org. 
 
We continue to offer stipend positions in the areas of family engagement and school climate to both 
encourage staff leadership and ensure positive growth in these areas.  Among other things, these 
coordinators organized assemblies, family barbecues, clothing giveaways, visits to the state capital to 
lobby for more funding, quarterly newsletters, student focus groups, dances, and Parent Teacher Home 
Visits, all of which had a positive effect on culture, climate and family engagement this past year.   On our 
spring Family School Climate survey, 93.3% of families said that they would recommend Bridge Academy 
to others, 98% of families agreed that good teaching is important at Bridge; 95% of families agreed that 
they knew their child’s progress or problems before progress reports and report cards are sent home; 95% 
said they felt well-informed about what is going on at school; and 96% said that their child’s teachers 
encourage them to develop to their full potential. 
 
In order to create positive school connections, and using funds from various grants,  we continue to offer a 
robust after school program, offering 18 free clubs, sports and activities, including piano, violin and 
swimming lessons, Anime, Media, Art, and Outdoors Clubs.  Using ARP Esser Innovative After School grant 
funds, we continued after school program through which our high school students go to a venue, learn all 
about what that place offers, then guide middle school students through tours of those places; this year 
we partnered with the Beardsley Zoo and EarthPlace Nature Center in Westport.   
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To ensure that Bridge is a welcoming place for parents as well as students, we held two family barbecues 
as well as a Poetry and Pizza night.  We continue to offer parent conferences both in person and online. 
We received high marks on our end of year Parent School Climate Survey on which 96% of families agreed 
or strongly agreed that they feel welcome at Bridge, 96% agreed or strongly agreed that our climate is 
caring and supportive, and 96% saying that they would recommend Bridge to other families.  
 
We continue our protocol of having Special Education teachers and an administrator meeting with all 
classroom teachers once a month to review progress toward IEP goals and to discuss next steps which 
leads to better communication between teachers and better outcomes for students.   We also continued 
to implement Sonday, a specialized reading instruction program, for those students who struggle with 
decoding and fluency, in addition to our middle school small group Leveled Literacy program. 
 
In order to create positive school connections, and using funds from various grants,  we continue to offer a 
robust after school program, offering 18 free clubs, sports and activities, including piano, violin and 
swimming lessons, Anime, Media, Art, and Outdoors Clubs.  Using ARP Esser Innovative After School grant 
funds, we continued after school program through which our high school students go to a venue, learn all 
about what that place offers, then guide middle school students through tours of those places; this year 
we partnered with the Beardsley Zoo and EarthPlace Nature Center in Westport.   
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PART 2: SCHOOL PERFORMANCE 
1. School Goals: State the school’s mission statement. Provide the school’s mission-specific, measurable goals. 

Analyze school progress toward these goals, providing data as appropriate. Add/Remove rows as necessary. 
MISSION STATEMENT 

The Bridge Academy is a small, caring public charter school with a rigorous learning environment.  All 
members of the Bridge Academy community listen to and communicate with each other, are able to 
respond to diverse needs, and give the consistent effort necessary for personal and academic growth. 

Goal Statement: Evidence of Progress Toward Target Goals: 

All high school students will be offered an 
early college experience and all Bridge 

Academy seniors will have the option of 
attending college. 

In order to provide students experience with college level classes 
and  offer them the opportunity to earn free college credits, we 
provide early college classes for our high school students through 
partnerships with Housatonic Community College and Post 
University.  Below, please find information on our early college 
experience from year 2023-2024 school year: 

• 66 Bridge Academy HS students took college courses 
• Students took a total of 106 classes with a pass rate of 

93%.  
• Students earned 318 credits in total, with an average GPA 

of 3.19 
• 21% of participating students have an IEP or 504 

 
Bridge Academy has been recognized more than once for having 

the 
highest monthly FAFSA completion rate of any public school in 

Connecticut.  
 
For the past several years all 12th graders have taken a college-
level   Financial Literacy course.  Beginning next year, all 11th 
graders will take a College Success Seminar through Post University. 

 

All staff will be offered high quality 
professional development, including a 

robust system of observations, in order 
to improve instruction and student 

achievement. 

We have been working with a school improvement partner, 
SchoolWorks, for the past two and a half years.  Part of that work 
included adopting a walkthrough observation rubric called the 
Classroom Visit Tool (CVT).  All staff have now been trained and 
certified in the use of this tool, the benefit of which is a common 
expectation and language around good instructional practice.   

• We conducted an average of 7 CVT observations per 
teacher in the 2023-2024 school year 

• We used CVT trend data to inform professional 
development  

• SchoolWorks conducted intensive, two-day School Quality 
Reviews (SQR’s) every year.   SQR CVT ratings have 
increased over the last three years.   

• We saw our biggest increases in the areas in which we held 
professional development sessions. Below are CVT trend 
ratings for those areas (on a 1 to 4 scale): 

o Focused Instruction:  
 2021: 2.0        2024: 2.8 
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o Instructional Strategies:  
 2021: 2.1        2024: 2.7 

o Higher Order Thinking:    
 2021: 1.9        2024: 2.2 

o Assessment:                       
 2021: 2.6       2024: 3.0 

• On the spring 2024 staff climate survey, 75% of staff agreed 
that the professional development they received provided 
them with strategies that helped support student learning; 
our goal is to increase this number in the coming year. 
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2. Student Achievement: The data below summarizes the school’s performance and academic achievement 
from the 2022-23 school year provided below. Please review the data using EdSight to ensure its accuracy. 

Performance Metric 2022-2023 

1.1. Academic Achievement 
a. ELA Performance Index – All Students 50.0 
b. ELA Performance Index – High Needs Students 47.5 
c. Math Performance Index – All Students 45.7 
d. Math Performance Index – High Needs Students 43.3 
e. Science Performance Index – All Students 46.6 
f. Science Performance Index – High Needs Students 45.3 

1.2. Academic Growth 
a. ELA Academic Growth – All Students 53.8% 
b. ELA Academic Growth – High Needs Students 53.4% 
c. Math Academic Growth – All Students 49.4% 
d. Math Academic Growth – High Needs Students 43.7% 
e. Progress Toward English Language Proficiency – Literacy * 
f. Progress Toward English Language Proficiency - Oral * 

1.3. Participation Rates-ELA, Math, Science (a. All Students, b. High Needs Students) 

1.4. Chronic Absenteeism 
a. All Students 21.0% 
b. High Needs Students 24.1% 

1.5. Preparation for CCR – Percent Taking Courses 32.5% 
1.6.  Preparation for CCR – Percent Passing Exams 54.5% 
1.7. On-track to High School Graduation 99.0% 
1.8. 4-year Graduation—All Students (2022 Cohort) 81.1% 
1.9. 6-year Graduation—High Needs Students (2020 Cohort) 88.2% 
1.10. Postsecondary Entrance (Graduating Class 2022) 85.3% 
1.11. Physical Fitness (estimated participation rate = 100.0%) 51.5% 
1.12. Arts Access 20.6% 
School Category: 3 * 
Charter School Accountability Index: 63.4 

*Source:  CSDE analysis based on district submitted and certified data. 

 

https://public-edsight.ct.gov/?language=en_US
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3. Legal Compliance Best Practices: In 250 words or less, detail how specific practices employed overtime at the 
school result in ensuring that the school operates in compliance with applicable laws and regulations (e.g. 
support for students with disabilities, English Learners/Multilingual Learners, employee, and student rights). 
Describe the areas of operation including policies and procedures that ensure compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations. Include quantitative and qualitative information associated with compliance. Provide evidence 
of collaboration with local school districts in this area as appropriate. 

 
We have operated with the highest levels of integrity and compliance with the law in all areas throughout our 
twenty-six year history. 

      
     e have two very committed Boards (Governing Council and Board of Directors) made up of many members who 

ave served for over five years, and some for over ten. This past year we welcomed a new Board president, James 
awlins.  Our Board minutes and handbooks are posted on our website ensuring transparency and clear 
ommunication with our community.   

We have a member of the Bridgeport Board of Education serving as an active member of our Board of Directors.  In 
the summer of 2022-2023, the entire Board participated in a training conducted by CABE.  This year we received a 
grant from PCLB for our school improvement partner, SchoolWorks, to conduct training for ourBoard as well.  This 
training focused on strategic planning and administrator evaluation. 

      We have several committees of the Board of Directors.  These committees are: Finance, Special Education, Teaching 
nd Learning, and Attendance and Climate.  The committees meet each month, then report out to the full Board at 
e next meeting.  These committees allow us to better engage and inform our members and ensure greater oversight 

f our operations.  Committee minutes are attached to the previous month’s minutes.  During the spring of the 2022 
hool year we interviewed several potential members who were recruited specifically for their experience with 

nancial statements and budgets.  The  two  members we invited to join the Board continue to serve and are 
embers of our Finance, Special Education and Attendance and Climate Committees and have been invaluable in 

upporting a healthy budget and school. 

The Bridge Academy follows all state recommendations for Teacher Evaluation, having adopted the State’s SEED 
model at its inception (and, most recently, having adopted the new Leader and Teacher Evaluation Support Plan.   

All beginning teachers are assigned a mentor and supported through the state’s Teacher Education and Mentoring 
(TEAM) Program. 

All teachers at Bridge Academy are certified in their subject area or have been granted Charter School Certification 
or Durational Shortage Area Permits until their state certification is complete. 

We make every effort to hire minority candidates. In the 2022-2023 school year, educators of color made up 34.6% 
of our teaching staff as compared to 11.2% in the state overall (Edsight).  We have offered workshops for our non-
certified staff on alternative routes to certification such as Relay; two former staff just completed the Connecticut 
Teacher Residency Program to become certified teachers in Fairfield. 
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PART 3: STEWARDSHIP, GOVERNANCE, AND MANAGEMENT 
1. Financial Documents: As required by C.G.S. § 10-66cc(b)(2)and 10-66pp, the charter school, and if applicable, 

the charter school management organization of the state or local charter school, (1) shall submit FY 2022-2023 
certified audit statements, including the statement of activities showing all revenues from public and private 
sources, expenditures, and net operating gain/loss, balance sheet and statement of cash flows; (2) the charter 
school and if applicable, the charter school management organization of the state or local charter school, shall 
submit a complete copy of the most recently completed Internal Revenue Service form 990, including all parts 
and schedules, other than Schedule B of such form; (3) provide the FY 2023-2024 budget; and (4) provide a FY 
2024-2025 board-approved budget. 

2. Financial Condition: Provide the following financial data for FY 2023-2024 

Total margin (net income/total revenue): 1.76 

Debt to asset ratio (total liabilities/total assets): .474 
Debt service coverage ratio (net income + depreciation + interest expense)/ 
(annual principal + interest, and lease payments): 2.67 

Current asset ratio (current assets/current liabilities): 1.02 

Days of (unrestricted cash/((total expenditures-depreciation)/365)): 8 

Cash flow (change in cash balance):  +$46,173 
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3. Governing Board: Consistent with C.G.S. § 10-66bb(d)(3)(A), provide the information below for all governing 
board members. The governing board should include teachers, parents, guardians of students enrolled in the 
school, and the chairperson of the local or regional board of education of the town in which the charter school 
is located and which has jurisdiction over a school that resembles the approximate grade configuration of the 
charter school, or the designee of such chairperson, provided such designee is a member of the board of 
education or the superintendent of schools for the school district, or the superintendent’s designee. 

Name: Occupation: Board 
Role/Term: Mailing/Email: Background 

Check: 

James Rawlins 
Director of Data 

Analytics and 
Insights, Fidelity 

President rawlinsjl@gmail.com ☒  Yes       ☐  No 

Kit Kaolian 
Vice President, 

People’s United Bank, 
Retired 

Vice President kit@prodigy.net ☒  Yes       ☐  No 

Michael 
Grabowski 

Financial Manager, 
retired Treasurer mgrabowski@sbcglobal.net ☒  Yes       ☐  No 

Craig Hoffman 
Industrial Engineer, 
Quality Manager, 

retired 
Secretary craighoff@gmail.com ☒  Yes       ☐  No 

Albert Benejan Charter School/BPS 
Board Liaison Director abenejan@bridgeportedu.net ☒  Yes       ☐  No 

Brenden Bish 

Bridgeport 
Firefighter and 
former Bridge 

Academy graduate 
and employee 

Director bbish49@gmail.com ☒  Yes       ☐  No 

Peggy Bud Special Education 
Consultant Director Peggy@peggybud.com ☒  Yes       ☐  No 

Heather Dwyer 

Senior Vice 
President Global 

Finance and 
Administration, 
The RCS Group 
iHeartMedia Inc 

 

Director hdwyer@rcsworks.com ☒  Yes       ☐  No 
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4. Renewal Terms and Other Issues: Provide a progress update on terms established in the charter school’s 
most recent renewal; summarize actions taken and progress data to substantiate efforts to address such 
terms. Provide an update on how the charter school is addressing or plans to address the issues noted. The 
chart below is pre-populated to include terms documented in the school’s last renewal resolution or issues 
identified by the CSDE. 

Standard/Indicator: Term or Condition: Progress Update: 

1.1 Academic 
Achievement 

The Bridge Academy’s 2022-23 Next 
Generation Accountability Index was 
63.4, the state’s index was 69.3.   
  
The school should continue efforts to 
improve student outcomes. 
 

We anticipate an improvement in our 
Accountability Scores for the 23-24 school 
year.  We made gains in lowering our chronic 
absenteeism rates, and in raising our Math SBA 
scores and our 4-year graduation rate.  We 
continue to include improvement on the 
Accountability Index in our strategic planning in 
order to improve in all areas.  

3.3 Demographic 
Representation 

In 2022-23, the school’s English 
Learner/Multilingual Learners 
(ELs/MLs) population was 3.2%. To 
better reflect the demographics of the 
surrounding community, the school 
must seek to enroll more students 
who are English/Multilingual learners. 

We continue to work to enroll more Multilingual 
Learners.  Each year we advertise our school on 
the local Spanish radio station with a Spanish 
language ad.  Our application is on our website in 
both English and Spanish, and all of our 
enrollment materials are readily available in 
Spanish.  Multiple staff speak Spanish, including 
both secretaries and our school nurse.  This past 
year our percentage of multilingual learners rose 
to 3.9% from 2.9% in the 21-22 school year. 

3.5 Chronic 
Absenteeism 

The Bridge Academy’s chronic 
absenteeism rate for the 2021-22 
school year was 14.9%, whereas the 
state average was 23.7%. The school’s 
rate for the 2022-2023 school year 
was 21.0%, whereas the state average 
was 20.0%.   
The school should continue efforts to 
lower the chronic absenteeism rate.  
 

Chronic Absenteeism Through June (Edsight): 
• Bridge: 18.7% 
• Bridgeport: 29.1% 
• State: 17.7% 

 
Attendance Rates Through June (Edsight): 

• Bridge: 93.4% 
• Bridgeport: 91.2% 
• State: 93.2% 

 
We continue to use multiple strategies to get 
students to school every day. These strategies 
include: regular attendance meetings at which 
we discuss struggling students and discuss next 
steps; calls and ParentSquare messages sent to 
every absent student daily; attendance “nudge” 
letters sent every five weeks detailing struggling 
students’ attendance compared to that of peers; 
parent meetings; Uber rides for students without 
a ride to school (with parent permission); a high 
level of emotional support from staff including 
our three social workers and school counselor; a 
positive, engaging school climate including a 
robust after school program. 
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4.5 Teacher/Staff 
Credentials 

As of May 1, 2024, the Bureau of 
Educator Standards and Certification 
reported 0 staff identified in the 
Educator Data System as out of 
compliance for the 2023-24 school 
year. 

Per state statute, it is the school’s 
responsibility to take steps to ensure 
100% of school staff hold appropriate 
certificates, permits, or authorizations 
for positions. 

All teachers at Bridge Academy are certified in 
their subject area or have been granted Charter 
School Certification, Long Term Sub Certification 
or Durational Shortage Area Permits until their 
state certification is complete. 
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5. Stewardship, Governance, and Management Best Practices: In 250 words or less, summarize 
practices/processes established in the areas of stewardship, governance, and management (e.g., financial 
management, reporting compliance, sustaining financial viability, and school operations) that ensure the 
school is financially viable, organizationally healthy, strong, and held accountable to established goals. 
Explain the rationale for establishing and/or continuing the practice(s). Explain the impact on the school, 
referencing quantitative and qualitative data. Provide evidence of collaboration with local school districts in 
this area as appropriate. 

Our most recent renewal and audits found no significant issues with legal or financial compliance.  In the 2021-
2022 school year  we sent out an RFP and changed auditors in order to comply with best practices.  We will send 
out RFPs again in two years to ensure that we continually have “fresh eyes” analyzing our finances. 

 We are committed to following the state recommendation that we work to find additional revenues and ensure 
that we meet the NACSA minimum threshold of 60 days of unrestricted cash and work to budget a surplus.  We 
are doing this in part by reducing staff(we layed off five staff last year) but also by continuing to investigate and 
apply for outside funding through grants. For example, this past year we received $100,000 from PCLB for 
general operating costs. This grant was awarded when our three year contract with our school improvement 
partner, Schoolworks, came to an end and reflects PCLB’s satisfaction with our work with that partner.  This 
work included action plans around instructional improvement as well as training for our Board of Directors.   We 
received an after-school grant to allow for training of older students who then guide younger students at venues 
such as the Beardsley Zoo and local museums and nature centers.  We also received a Mental Health Workers 
grant from the CT Department of Education  that allowed us to hire a second school counselor last year and we 
received a  Multi Media and Security Grant funded by the CT Department of Emergency Services & Public 
Protection which allowed us to replace all of the cameras inside and outside the school and add a panic button 
in our office.  We have received funding for a part time behavioral specialist through the CT Department of 
Education Bureau of Health, Nutrition and Family Services, and received another through ARPA Summer Mental 
Health Supports that will allow us to offer mental health services through the summer.  In addition, we received 
a small Dual Credit Expansion grant that allows us to support our early college program.  Lastly, we received a 
grant for a High Dosage Tutoring Program which was administered in grades 7 through 9 during the last school 
year.  
      
We continue to prioritize diversity on our Governing Board which is made up of 43% Black and Hispanic 
members.  
Bridgeport Public Schools has been paying our special education bills regularly as we continue to honor their 
request to submit a detailed,  itemized invoice.   
This past year our ESSER and ARP funds continued to enable us to: 

• Maintain a full-time Social Emotional Learning Coordinator 

• Maintain two part-time Climate Coordinators 

• Maintain two part-time Family Engagement Coordinators 

• Maintain staff for a Tier II Math Explorations class in the middle school (we let one of our three Math 
Explorations teachers go at the end of the year in order to support a healthy budget) 

• Maintain staff for a Tier II World Topics reading intervention class in the high school 

• Continue to implement the Parent Teacher Home Visit protocol 
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PART 4: STUDENT POPULATION 
1. Enrollment and Demographic Data: Provide 2023-2024 student demographic and enrollment information. 

Grades Served:  American Indian or Alaska Native:  

Student Enrollment:  Asian:  
 Black/African American: 49.5% 

Percent of Free/Reduced-Price Meals:  
Hispanic/Latino: 45.9% 

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander:  

Percent of Special Education Students:  
Two or More Races: 2.1% 

White:  

2023-2024 Enrollment by Grade Level: 

PK K 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 Total 

        52 49 52 49 42 37 281 
2. Enrollment Efforts: Summarize the school’s efforts to attract, enroll and retain a diverse student population, 

representative of students of color, low-income students, English Learners/Multilingual Learners, and 
students with disabilities.  

 The Bridge Academy does a good job of enrolling high needs students.  For the 2023-2024 school year, 18.1% 
of our students qualified for special education and 86.1% qualified for free or reduced lunch.   49.5% of our 
students are Black, 45.9% are Hispanic with the remainder identifying as mixed race.  These demographics 
reflect the community we serve.  
 
One population we will continue to work to attract is that of multilingual learners; in the 2023-2024 school 
year, only 3.9% of our learners were identified as multilingual.  This may be in part because of the nature of 
charter school enrollment, which requires that we work from our waitlist to enroll new students rather than 
being able to accept students who just arrived from a Spanish speaking country.  We will continue to put out 
radio ads in Spanish and to offer our application and enrollment forms in Spanish. Two years ago we also 
adopted the use of ParentSquare as a communication tool; ParentSquare translates messages into the users 
preferred language, which we think has helped us maintain positive relationships with families that speak 
other languages. 
 
The Bridge Academy has effectively served our special populations for many years.  Knowing that many of our 
families qualify for free and reduced lunch, and that even those who do not qualify may struggle financially, we 
offer breakfast and lunch free to all students every day.  Families of students who qualify for special education 
are attracted to The Bridge Academy’s small size, safe atmosphere and push-in support model.   Our 
community recognizes that The Bridge Academy offers a different, more inclusive approach for these students 
than they sometimes receive in the larger schools in our district.  For example, our general education teachers 
meet bi-weekly with each student’s special education teacher in order to analyze their progress and discuss 
support and next steps.   
 
Our four year graduation rate for high needs students is 96.6%, higher than that of the state and 
Bridgeport.  89.3% of our special education students enter college, compared to 51.1% of special education 
students from Bridgeport Public Schools (Edsight).  This is a testament to the work we do to support special 
populations in realizing their full potential.  
 
Our families appreciate the support we give their students; in our 2024 school climate survey, 93.3% of families 
surveyed said that they would recommend Bridge to other families.  
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3. Waitlist Data: Provide waitlist totals below, illustrating demand and community support for the school. 

2023-2024 Waitlist: 2024-2025 Waitlist: 

289 326 
4. Student Population Best Practice: In 250 words or less, summarize practice(s)/system(s) used in the area of 

student population (e.g., family and community engagement, recruitment processes, retention strategies) to 
ensure the school promotes equity by effectively attracting, enrolling and retaining students, particularly 
among targeted populations. Explain the rationale for establishing and/or continuing the practice(s). Include 
a brief narrative on the school’s unique model and describe the practice(s) and its impact on the school, 
referencing quantitative and qualitative data. Provide evidence of collaboration with local school districts in 
this area as appropriate.  

The Bridge Academy’s  high needs population for the 2023-2024 school year was 87.5% (Edsight). It is 
therefore extremely important that we create a school culture that is sensitive to and supportive of high needs 
students.  Last year we employed three social workers and two school counselors in order to ensure that our 
students have access to the social emotional, mental health and academic support they need to thrive.  In 
recognition of the socio-economic status of most of our families, we serve free breakfast and lunch to all 
students daily. 

We employ three full-time special education teachers.  Using the push-in model, our special education 
students spend the majority of their school time in classes with their general education peers.  As often as 
possible, we work to have para support in classrooms in order to give students the extra help they need.  We 
have worked hard over the last few years to improve the writing, implementation and progress-analysis of  IEP 
goals and objectives. Toward that end, the special education teachers and an administrator meet bi-weekly 
with each general education teacher to look at individual student data and discuss next steps and support. 
Bridgeport Public Schools runs our PPT meetings and those have gone smoothly.  In addition, our lead SPED 
teacher and our school director attend regular meetings hosted by our host district’s Department of Special 
Education.  

For our multilingual learners, we provide a sheltered instruction)model.  We also paid for one of our staff 
members to earn her graduate certificate in Educating Bi-lingual Learners  and she serves as our consultant on 
supporting our multilingual students.   

The fact that 96.6% (Edsight) of our high needs students graduated in four years in the last year that data was 
available is a testament to the success of the support we offer those students. 
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APPENDIX B: CHARTER SCHOOL PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK 
 

The Connecticut State Department of Education’s (CSDE) charter school performance framework promotes clear and 
transparent expectations for all charter schools. The four performance standards are central to measuring schools’ efficacy 
and viability, and align to state law and national best practices among charter school authorizers as accumulated by the 
National Association of Charter School Authorizers. Within each standard area, the framework identifies a series of 
indicators used to evaluate charter schools. The framework drives the CSDE’s charter school accountability systems and 
processes, including initial approval decisions, annual monitoring, and renewal determinations.  
 

Performance Standards: 

1. School Performance: Is the school a successful model resulting in strong student outcomes and a positive school climate? 

2. Stewardship, Governance, and Management: Is the school financially and organizationally healthy and viable?  

3. Student Population: Is the school promoting equity by effectively attracting, enrolling, and retaining students, particularly 
among targeted populations?  

4. Legal Compliance: Is the school acting in compliance with applicable laws and regulations? 

Performance Standards: Performance Indicators: 
1. School Performance 1.1. Academic Achievement 

a. ELA Performance Index–All Students 
b. ELA Performance Index–High Needs Students 
c. Math Performance Index–All Students 
d. Math Performance Index–High Needs Students 
e. Science Performance Index–All Students 
f. Science Performance Index–High Needs Students  

1.2. Academic Growth 
a. ELA Academic Growth–All Students 
b. ELA Academic Growth–High Needs Students 
c. Math Academic Growth–All Students 
d. Math Academic Growth–High Needs Students 
e. Progress toward English Language Proficiency–Literacy 
f. Progress toward English Language Proficiency-Oral 

1.3. Participation Rates–ELA, Math, Science (a. All Students, b. High Needs) 
1.4. Chronic Absenteeism (a. All Students, b. High Needs)  
1.5. Postsecondary Preparation 
1.6. Postsecondary Readiness 
1.7. On-track to High School Graduation 
1.8. 4-year Adjusted Cohort Graduation (All Students) 
1.9. 6-year Adjusted Cohort Graduation (High Needs Students) 
1.10. Postsecondary Entrance Rate  
1.11. Physical Fitness 
1.12. Arts Access 

2. Stewardship, Governance, 
and Management  

2.1. Financial Management  
2.2. Financial Reporting  
2.3. Financial Viability  
2.4. Governance and Management 
2.5. Facility 

3. Student Population 3.1. Recruitment and Enrollment Process 
3.2. Waitlist and Enrollment Data 
3.3. Demographic Representation 
3.4. Family and Community Support  
3.5. School Culture and Climate 

4. Legal Compliance 4.1. Open Meetings and Information Management 
4.2. Students with Disabilities 
4.3. English Learners 
4.4. Rights of Students 
4.5. Teacher/Staff Credentials 
4.6. Employee Rights 
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APPENDIX C: STATEMENT OF ASSURANCES 
 
It is imperative that charter schools–as with all other public schools–adopt and uphold the highest ethical and 
legal standards while delivering excellent academic opportunities for students and their families.  
 
As the authorized representative of The Bridge Academy, to the best of my knowledge, I affirm that:  

 
1. Pursuant to C.G.S.A. § 10-66rr, all board members and staff have satisfactorily completed background 

checks, including a state and national criminal record check and a record check of the Department of 
Children and Families child abuse and neglect registry. 
 

2. Pursuant to C.G.S.A. § 10-66rr, if applicable, all charter school management organization (CMO) 
governing board members and staff members, who performs a service involving direct student contact 
have satisfactorily completed background checks, as described in (1).  

 
3. All contractors doing business with the school, who performs a service involving direct student contact 

have satisfactorily completed background checks, as described in (1). 
 

4. Records of any and all background checks described above, are on file at The Bridge Academy and 
available for random audit by the Connecticut State Department of Education (CSDE). 

 
5. Pursuant to C.G.S.A. § 10-66oo, The Bridge Academy Governing Board has adopted written anti-

nepotism and conflict of interest policies consistent with state law and best practices in nonprofit 
corporate governance, and pursuant to 10-66bb(d), that no member or employee of the Governing 
Board has a personal or financial interest in any asset, real or personal, of the charter school.  
 

6. Pursuant to C.G.S.A. § 10-66oo, each member of a governing council of a state or local charter school 
shall complete training related to charter school governing council responsibilities and best practices at 
least once during the term of the charter, and that no board member of The Bridge Academy serves on 
the board of another charter school or CMO. 

 
7. All public funds received by The Bridge Academy have been, or are being, expended prudently and in a 

manner required by law. 
 

8. All Governing Board meetings are open and accessible to the public, and that The Bridge Academy has 
posted, and continues to post, on any Internet website that the Governing Board operates, the 
schedule, agenda, and minutes of each Governing Board meeting, including any meeting of a 
subcommittee of the Governing Board. 
 

9. The Bridge Academy does not discriminate in any employment practice, education program, or 
educational activity on the basis of race, color, religious creed, sex, age, national origin, ancestry, marital 
status, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, disability, or any other basis prohibited by 
Connecticut state and/or federal nondiscrimination laws.  
 

10. The Bridge Academy does not operate any school location outside the scope of its approved charter or 
subsequent State Board of Education approval. 

 
 





Jul 1 - Nov 6, 24

Income
Federal Income

21st CCLC Afterschool Grant 0.00
ARP 93,600.00
ARP behaviorist grant 0.00
ARP counselor grant 16,500.00
dual credit expansion ARP 0.00
emergency connectivity fund 0.00
ESSER 2 0.00
High dose tutoring ARP 0.00
Homeless grant 0.00
State innovation afterschool 0.00
summer mental health 0.00
Supply chain and other Fed food 0.00
Tech infrastructure grant 0.00
USDA commodity income 0.00
0280000 · title 1 44,000.00
0290000 · Title II Part D 0.00
0300000 · usf internet telephone 0.00
0310000 · Title II  part A 4,000.00
0311000 · Federal Income- Title III 0.00
0320000 · Title IV  SAFE SCHOOLS 0.00
0330000 · Title V   IES 0.00
0350000 · Fed Lunch Reimbursement 2,480.00
0350001 · Fed Breakfast Reimbursement 660.00
Federal Income - Other 0.00

Total Federal Income 161,240.00

School Income
Cobra Payments 0.00
deferred grant revenue 0.00
equipment disposal 0.00
misc grants 0.00
near & far aid assoc. inc 0.00
obligation income 0.00
Parent club money 0.00
People's line of credit 0.00
Student funds raised 0.00
0050000 · Field Trip Income 0.00
0070000 · Miscellaneous income 3,700.00
0102000 · special ed reimbursement 0.00
0104000 · summer school 0.00
0150000 · Lunch Income

bridge academey  lunch 0.00
bridge academy breakfast 0.00
bridge academy snack 0.00
0160009 · Alternative Ed Lunch 0.00
0150000 · Lunch Income - Other 0.00

Total 0150000 · Lunch Income 0.00

0160000 · Lunch Income - YMCA
ymca breakfast 0.00
ymca lunch 0.00
ymca snack 0.00
0160000 · Lunch Income - YMCA - Other 0.00

Total 0160000 · Lunch Income - YMCA 0.00

0170000 · Contributions 105,000.00
0177000 · in kind

0177001 · in kind state TRB 0.00
0177002 · special ed bpt inkind 0.00
0177000 · in kind - Other 0.00

Total 0177000 · in kind 0.00
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Jul 1 - Nov 6, 24

School Income - Other 0.00

Total School Income 108,700.00

State Income
Building Renovation Grant

State Curriculum Grant 0.00
Building Renovation Grant - Other 0.00

Total Building Renovation Grant 0.00

School building construction 0.00
state CRF 0.00
0100001 · State lunch matching funds 0.00
0110000 · Charter School Funding 1,891,700.00
0115000 · other state grants 0.00
0350002 · HEALTHY FOOD GRANT 0.00
0350003 · state breakfast matching funds 0.00
State Income - Other 0.00

Total State Income 1,891,700.00

0360000 · Gain/Loss Disposal Fixed Assets 0.00
4999 · Uncategorized Income 0.00

Total Income 2,161,640.00

Expense
Payroll Expenses 0.00
1000000 · Non governmental source 0.00
1100000 · Instruction

1100100 · Salaries
Summer School Salaries 0.00
1100111 · Salary Teacher's

ARP Salaries 0.00
title 1 salaries 0.00
Title IV salaries 0.00
111.1 · Salaries Title II part A 0.00
111.3 · ESSER summer school salaries 38,000.00
111.4 · ESSER2 Salaries 0.00
1100111 · Salary Teacher's - Other 317,860.00

Total 1100111 · Salary Teacher's 355,860.00

1100112 · Salary assts
State CRF tutor support 0.00
1100112 · Salary assts - Other 37,020.00

Total 1100112 · Salary assts 37,020.00

1100100 · Salaries - Other 0.00

Total 1100100 · Salaries 392,880.00

1100200 · Employee Benefits
1100210 · Employee Assistance Program 0.00
1100220 · in kind trb 0.00
1100250 · FICA 17,380.00
1100251 · State Unemploy Ins 1,460.00
1100252 · Compensation Ins 0.00
1100270 · Health Ins

1100271 Health ARP 0.00
title 1 health 0.00
1100270 · Health Ins - Other 165,700.00

Total 1100270 · Health Ins 165,700.00
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1100200 · Employee Benefits - Other 0.00

Total 1100200 · Employee Benefits 184,540.00

1100300 · Purchased Services
High dose tutoring pservice 0.00
1100310 · Title 1 tutoring 0.00
1100320 · interns 0.00
1100430 · Computer Repair 0.00
1100300 · Purchased Services - Other 0.00

Total 1100300 · Purchased Services 0.00

1100600 · Supplies
arp and innovate af school 0.00
Dual credit expansion supplies 0.00
ESSER Internet Subscriptions 0.00
Homeless grant supplies 0.00
1100608 · Middle School Supplies 0.00
1100609 · Nurse Supplies 0.00
1100610 · ARP Internet subscriptions

college classes 0.00
1100610 · ARP Internet subscriptions - Other 0.00

Total 1100610 · ARP Internet subscriptions 0.00

1100611 · Copier Paper 0.00
1100612 · Dues/ Fees/ Subscriptions 0.00
1100620 · Printers and printing supplies 0.00
1100621 · Computer 0.00
1100630 · prom expense 0.00
1100631 · Graduation expense 0.00
1100640 · Science supplies 0.00
1100641 · Covid Cleaning supplies 0.00
1100642 · 21stAfter School Grant Supplies 0.00
1100643 · English Supplies 0.00
1100644 · Guided Reading Supplies 0.00
1100645 · Math Supplies 0.00
1100646 · Math Games Supplies 0.00
1100647 · History Supplies 0.00
1100648 · Music Supplies 0.00
1100649 · Spanish Supplies 0.00
1100650 · Field trips 0.00
1100689 · School Apparel & Merchandise 0.00
1100690 · Other Supplies 94,000.00
1100691 · Art supplies 0.00
1100692 · Physical Education Supplies 0.00
1100695 · title 3 IV VI grant expenses

title 2  PART A 0.00
title 2  PART D 0.00
1100695 · title 3 IV VI grant expenses - Other 0.00

Total 1100695 · title 3 IV VI grant expenses 0.00

1100600 · Supplies - Other 0.00

Total 1100600 · Supplies 94,000.00

1100700 · Equipment
1100711 · After school Computers

ESSER2 computers 0.00
1100711 · After school Computers - Other 0.00

Total 1100711 · After school Computers 0.00
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1100720 · Loss on disposal of equipment 0.00
1100721 · Other Equipment 0.00
1100700 · Equipment - Other 0.00

Total 1100700 · Equipment 0.00

1100800 · Other 0.00
1100000 · Instruction - Other 0.00

Total 1100000 · Instruction 671,420.00

1210000 · Support Services students
Health ins support services 0.00
1210100 · Support service salaries

Afterschool hourly wages 7,700.00
ARP counselor salary 0.00
ARP summer support services 0.00
Esser2 Sup serv salaries 0.00
innovatAfterschool hourly wages 0.00
paraprofessional salaries 0.00
summer school salaries 0.00
1210101 · title iv Nurse & MSW salary 0.00
1210110 · in kind special ed salaries 0.00
1210120 · innovate  Afterschool hourly 0.00
1210100 · Support service salaries - Other 158,260.00

Total 1210100 · Support service salaries 165,960.00

1210250 · Support Service benefits
1210251 · FICA support services 7,180.00
1210270 · Health ins support services

ARP Counselor health 0.00
1210270 · Health ins support services - Other 73,800.00

Total 1210270 · Health ins support services 73,800.00

1210250 · Support Service benefits - Other 0.00

Total 1210250 · Support Service benefits 80,980.00

1210300 · Purchased Services
21stAfter school grant pservice 0.00
arp behaviorist 0.00
Homeless grant Purchase service 0.00
innovate State after p service 0.00
1210300 · Purchased Services - Other 0.00

Total 1210300 · Purchased Services 0.00

1210600 · Supplies 0.00
1210700 · Equipment 0.00
1210800 · sup serv other 0.00
1210000 · Support Services students - Other 0.00

Total 1210000 · Support Services students 246,940.00

1221000 · Improve Instructional Services
1221300 · Purchased Services

1221310 · Inservice
summer institute per diem 0.00
tech literacy grant-inservice 0.00
Title 1 inservice 0.00
Title IID side by side inservic 0.00
1221310 · Inservice - Other 19,500.00

Total 1221310 · Inservice 19,500.00
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1221300 · Purchased Services - Other 0.00

Total 1221300 · Purchased Services 19,500.00

1221600 · Supplies
1221610 · Library Books 1,960.00
1221611 · Textbooks 0.00
1221600 · Supplies - Other 0.00

Total 1221600 · Supplies 1,960.00

1221000 · Improve Instructional Services - Other 3,600.00

Total 1221000 · Improve Instructional Services 25,060.00

1230000 · Support Services General Admin
1230100 · salaries general Admin 0.00
1230200 · benefits general Admin 0.00
1230520 · Insurance 36,560.00
1230000 · Support Services General Admin - Other 0.00

Total 1230000 · Support Services General Admin 36,560.00

124000 · Administration School-Based
1240100 · Salaries

21 After school salaries Admin 0.00
arp innovate after school admin 0.00
1240101 · Pension buyout 0.00
1240100 · Salaries - Other 218,020.00

Total 1240100 · Salaries 218,020.00

1240200 · Employee Benefits
1240250 · FICA 6,100.00
1240251 · State Unemploy Ins 0.00
1240252 · Compensation Ins 14,000.00
1240270 · Health Ins 44,300.00
1240200 · Employee Benefits - Other 0.00

Total 1240200 · Employee Benefits 64,400.00

1240300 · Purchased Services
legal fees 0.00
LINE PAYMENT 0.00
1230420 · Computer-Internet 1,400.00
1230421 · Credit Card Interest 0.00
1230430 · Loan Interest 0.00
1230442 · rental of equipment 0.00
1230530 · Telephone 1,980.00
1230540 · Utilities 0.00
1240300 · Purchased Services - Other 0.00

Total 1240300 · Purchased Services 3,380.00

1240600 · Supplies
1230620 · Maintenance 0.00
1240610 · Office Supplies 2,600.00
1240600 · Supplies - Other 0.00

Total 1240600 · Supplies 2,600.00

1240700 · Equipment
1230710 · Copier Lease and maint 8,400.00
1240700 · Equipment - Other 0.00

Total 1240700 · Equipment 8,400.00
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1240800 · other
1230810 · Misc 0.00
1240800 · other - Other 0.00

Total 1240800 · other 0.00

124000 · Administration School-Based - Other 1,700.00

Total 124000 · Administration School-Based 298,500.00

125000 · Support ServicesAdmin
1250100 · salaries support serv Admin 0.00
1250200 · fica Sup serv admin 0.00
1250300 · purchase service sup serv admin

1250310 · Audit 20,900.00
1250320 · Payroll Service 3,620.00
1250300 · purchase service sup serv admin - Other 0.00

Total 1250300 · purchase service sup serv admin 24,520.00

125000 · Support ServicesAdmin - Other 0.00

Total 125000 · Support ServicesAdmin 24,520.00

1260000 · Plant Maintenance
construction in progress 0.00
new building expense

1260005 · new building const services 1,240.00
new building expense - Other 0.00

Total new building expense 1,240.00

1260001 · Amoritization 0.00
1260002 · Depreciation 0.00
1260003 · Interest for Capitol lease 0.00
1260007 · Title IID side by side construc 0.00
1260111 · maintenance employees salary

After school maintenance 0.00
1260111 · maintenance employees salary - Other 18,060.00

Total 1260111 · maintenance employees salary 18,060.00

1260200 · maintenance FICA 2,100.00
1260211 · health ins maintenance 12,300.00
1260300 · Purchased Services

1230510 · Security 0.00
1260400 · building improvements 0.00
1260430 · Maintenance 23,000.00
1260441 · Rent 45,460.00
1260500 · Asbestos Plan 0.00
1260300 · Purchased Services - Other 0.00

Total 1260300 · Purchased Services 68,460.00

1260600 · MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES
1260610 · Oil 6,500.00
1260620 · water and electricity 11,200.00
1260600 · MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES - Other 600.00

Total 1260600 · MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 18,300.00

1260800 · other 0.00
1260000 · Plant Maintenance - Other 0.00

Total 1260000 · Plant Maintenance 120,460.00
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127000 · Student Transportation
Homeless transportation 0.00
innovation after school transpo 0.00
Loss on fixed asset disposal 0.00
1270100 · driver salary 0.00
1270300 · Purchased Services

1270430 · Van Repair 0.00
1270520 · Van Insurance 0.00
1270300 · Purchased Services - Other 0.00

Total 1270300 · Purchased Services 0.00

1270600 · Supplies
1270626 · Gasoline 0.00
1270600 · Supplies - Other 0.00

Total 1270600 · Supplies 0.00

1270700 · van purchase 0.00
1270800 · other 0.00
127000 · Student Transportation - Other 5,700.00

Total 127000 · Student Transportation 5,700.00

1310000 · Food Service
Cafeteria Depreciation 0.00
Food Service capitol lease 0.00
1310111 · Lunch employees salary

ESSER 2 Lunch Salary 0.00
1310111 · Lunch employees salary - Other 26,660.00

Total 1310111 · Lunch employees salary 26,660.00

1310200 · FICA
1310270 · lunch health ins 9,760.00
1310200 · FICA - Other 1,580.00

Total 1310200 · FICA 11,340.00

1310300 · Purchased Services
1310430 · lunch maintenance 0.00
1310440 · Equipment Repair 0.00
1310450 · Installation of Equipment 0.00
1310570 · Lunch Catering 800.00
1310300 · Purchased Services - Other 1,500.00

Total 1310300 · Purchased Services 2,300.00

1310600 · supplies
supply chain grant expense 0.00
1310601 · food school lunch 15,400.00
1310602 · food ymca 0.00
1310603 · food school ala carte 0.00
1310604 · cleaning supplies 0.00
1310610 · Food Service Oil 0.00
1310620 · food service water and elec 0.00
1310640 · paper supplies 0.00
1310650 · Food Service Commodities 0.00
1310600 · supplies - Other 100.00

Total 1310600 · supplies 15,500.00

1310700 · Equipment 0.00
1310800 · other 0.00
1310000 · Food Service - Other 0.00

Total 1310000 · Food Service 55,800.00
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9999999 · Contingency
999.1 · scholarships 0.00
9999999 · Contingency - Other 0.00

Total 9999999 · Contingency 0.00

Total Expense 1,484,960.00

Net Income 676,680.00
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(Fiscal Year Start Date: 1-July-23)
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

2022/2023 2022/2023

Income:
YTD Actuals 

as of 6/30/24
YTD Baseline 

Budget

$ Better / 
(Worse) Than 

Budget

YTD Actuals 
as % of YTD 

Budget

Prior Year 
Actuals as of 

6/30/23

Full Year 
Budget

YTD Actuals 
as % of 
Budget

Forecast
Projected Year 

Change -
 Better / 

Total Prior 
Year Audited 

Actuals Comments

Federal Income $1,262,439 $1,062,450 $199,989 118.82% $993,923 $1,062,450 118.82% $1,200,900 $138,450 $993,923 Reduced after-school funding offset by high-dose tutoring reimbursement
School Income $569,938 $482,250 $87,688 118.18% $563,423 $482,250 118.18% $567,161 $84,911 $563,423
State Income $3,654,791 $3,517,900 $136,891 103.89% $3,437,810 $3,517,900 103.89% $3,595,589 $77,689 $3,437,810 State reimbursement for new cameras

Total Income: $5,487,168 $5,062,600 $424,568 108.39% $4,995,156 $5,062,600 108.39% $5,363,650 $301,050 $4,995,156

Expenses:
YTD Actuals 

as of 6/30/24
YTD Baseline 

Budget

$ Better / 
(Worse) Than 

Budget

YTD Actuals 
as % of YTD 

Budget

Prior Year 
Actuals as of 

6/30/23

Full Year 
Budget

YTD Actuals 
as % of 
Budget

Forecast
Projected Year 

Change -
 Better / 

Total Prior 
Year Audited 

Actuals Comments

1100000 · Instruction $2,572,550 $2,191,700 ($380,850) 117.38% $2,260,071 $2,191,700 117.38% $2,546,743 ($355,043) $2,260,071 High-dose tutoring costs ($311K) & higher student support costs
1210000 · Support Serv. - Students $1,082,774 $1,192,300 $109,526 90.81% $1,105,821 $1,192,300 90.81% $1,078,598 $113,702 $1,105,821 Lower health insurance costs & after-school purchased services
1221000 · Improve Instr. Services $135,329 $149,500 $14,171 90.52% $116,081 $149,500 90.52% $146,800 $2,700 $116,081 Lower purchased services
1230000 · Support Serv. - Gen. Admin. $41,364 $40,000 ($1,364) 103.41% $39,147 $40,000 103.41% $41,300 ($1,300) $39,147
124000 · Administration School-Based $813,975 $857,350 $43,375 94.94% $810,567 $857,350 94.94% $805,350 $52,000 $810,567 Lower health insurance costs
125000 · Support Serv. - Administration $35,423 $34,500 ($923) 102.68% $33,522 $34,500 102.68% $35,430 ($930) $33,522
1260000 · Plant Maintenance $465,814 $362,850 ($102,964) 128.38% $493,438 $362,850 128.38% $396,000 ($33,150) $493,438 New camera costs - $75K ($60K reimbursed - state income) & higher salary cos
127000 · Student Transportation $22,812 $20,000 ($2,812) 114.06% $20,194 $20,000 114.06% $24,000 ($4,000) $20,194
1310000 · Food Service $169,304 $166,900 ($2,404) 101.44% $142,830 $166,900 101.44% $163,700 $3,200 $142,830
9999999 · Scholarships $11,350 $2,500 ($8,850) NM $13,030 $2,500 NM $2,500 $0 $13,030

Total Expenses: $5,350,695 $5,017,600 ($333,095) 106.64% $5,034,701 $5,017,600 106.64% $5,240,420 ($222,820) $5,034,701

Net Income: $136,473 $45,000 $91,473 303.27% ($39,545) $45,000 303.27% $123,230 $78,230 ($39,545)

Amt. Spent Amt. Spent Amt. Budgeted Amt. Spent Balance
Grants Received Date of Grant Total SY 21/22 SY 22/23 SY 23/24 SY 23/24 Grant Expires remaining -1) SY 23/24 Forecast

ARP 9/1/2021 $1,112,453 $426,000 $255,000 $431,450 $337,825 9/30/2024 $93,628 Use remainder before expiration on 9/30/24

 -1) as of June 30, 2024

Bridge Academy Financial Report
Data as of: 6/30/2024

2023/2024 Year-To-Date 2023/2024 Total Year

Bridge Academy - June 24 YTD SY23-24 vs Budget (board report) 7.08.xlsx Board Report 11/6/2024 9:43 AM
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Education of  
The Bridge Academy, Inc. 
Bridgeport, CT, 06608 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Bridge Academy, Inc. (a nonprofit organization), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2023, the related statements of activities, 
functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of The Bridge Academy, Inc. as of June 30, 2023, and the changes in its net assets and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of The Bridge Academy, Inc. and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about The Bridge Academy, Inc.’s ability 
to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material 
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of The Bridge Academy, Inc.’s internal control. Accordingly, no 
such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about The Bridge Academy, Inc.’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Report on Supplementary Information  
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.  
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, and the Schedule of Expenditures of 
State Financial Assistance, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and State of 
Connecticut Office of Policy and Management under the Connecticut Single Audit Act (C.G.S. Sections 
4-230 to 4-236), are presented for purposes of additional analysis, and are not required parts of the 
financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements.  
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The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 30, 
2023, on our consideration of The Bridge Academy, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
The Bridge Academy, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
Henry, Raymond & Thompson, LLC 
 
Henry, Raymond & Thompson, LLC 
South Windsor, Connecticut 
September 30, 2023  
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 
 

ASSETS
Cash 65,107$           
Accounts and grants receivable 113,524           
Prepaid expense 67,517             
Finance Leases - Right-of-use assets, net 1,506,765
Property and equipment, net 1,357,342        

Total Assets 3,110,255$      

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 138,588$         
Accrued payroll 222,151           
Line of credit payable -                   
Finance lease liabilities 1,164,611        

Total Liabilities 1,525,350        

NET ASSETS
Without donor restrictions 1,532,295        
With donor restrictions 52,610             

Total net assets 1,584,905        

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 3,110,255$      
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

Without Donor With Donor 
Restrictions Restrictions Total

Revenues and Support:
Government grants and contracts 4,729,875$       -$                         4,729,875$                
Contributions 119,515 52,610                  172,125
In-kind revenue 71,922 -                           71,922
Other income 22,240 -                           22,240

     Total 4,943,552         52,610                  4,996,162                  

Expenses:
Program services 4,349,498         34,100                  4,383,598                  
Management and general 633,632            -                           633,632                     
Fundraising 17,588              -                           17,588                       

Total 5,000,718         34,100                  5,034,818                  

Change in net assets (57,166)            18,510                  (38,656)                      

Net assets, beginning of year 1,589,461 34,100                  1,623,561                  

Net assets, end of year 1,532,295$       52,610$                1,584,905$                
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

Charter 
School Management 

Operations and General Fundraising Total

Salaries, employee benefits and related 
  expenses 3,497,176$    419,708$      12,969$    3,929,853$ 
Depreciation 98,118           11,776          364           110,258      
Amortization - right of use assets 95,564           11,469          354           107,387
Programs Supplies and expenses 482,825         103,736        3,185        589,746      
Outside services 11,440           3,387            48             14,875        
Utilities 57,931           6,952            215           65,098        
Repairs and maintenance 87,998           10,561          326           98,885        
Insurance -                 39,147          -           39,147        
Interest 32,236           3,869            120           36,225        
Professional fees 116                23,027          7               23,150        
Transportation expense 20,194           -                -           20,194        

4,383,598$    633,632$      17,588$    5,034,818$ 
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

 

Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets (38,656)$       
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to 
  net cash provided by operating activities

Amortization - right of use assets 107,387        
Depreciation 110,258        

(Increase) decrease in operating assets
Accounts receivable, net 6,432            
Prepaid expenses 25,050          

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 13,301          
Accrued payroll (45,961)         

Net cash provided by operating activities 177,811        

Cash flows from financing activities
Principal payments on financing lease (94,403)         
Disbursements from line of credit 60,000          
Repayments to Line of Credit (160,000)       

Net cash used by financing activities (194,403)       

Net change in cash (16,592)         

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 81,699          

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 65,107$        

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid for interest expense 36,225$        
Non-cash transactions:
  Acquisition of right-of-use asset and related liability 5,000$           
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

Note 1 – Organization and Nature of Activities 
 
Nature of Activities 
 
The Bridge Academy, Inc. (the “School”) was granted a charter to operate Bridge Academy, a public 
school located in the City of Bridgeport, CT. The School was founded in 1997 to provide a college 
preparatory curriculum designed to overcome the educational problems typically found in the inner city. 
The established goals are to be met through the following approaches: parental involvement, a mentor 
program with professionals from the Bridgeport business community, an introduction to the world outside 
of Bridgeport that includes the arts, and small enrollment that allows students to foster a sense of 
community and self-respect.   
 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 10-66bb of the Connecticut General Statutes, The Bridge 
Academy, Inc., was granted their initial charter in 1997. A charter school, as defined by the Connecticut 
statutes, is a public, nonsectarian school, which is established under a charter granted pursuant to the 
provisions of the statutes, acts as a public agency, and operates independently of any local or regional 
board of education in accordance with the terms of its charter and the provisions of the statutes.  The 
charter was renewed through June 30, 2025 and shall be operated in accordance with all applicable state 
and federal laws and regulations, and the terms of its charter. 
 
The school has grades seven through twelve and was approved for 280 students by the State of 
Connecticut Department of Education for the year ended June 30, 2023.  
 
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Basis of Presentation 
 
The financial statements of The Bridge Academy, Inc. have been prepared in accordance with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles ("US GAAP"), which require The Bridge Academy, Inc. to 
report information regarding its financial position and activities according to the following net asset 
classifications:   
 

Net assets without donor restrictions: Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions and may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of the 
organization. These net assets may be used at the discretion of The Bridge Academy, Inc.’s 
management and the board of directors. 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions: Net assets subject to stipulations imposed by donors, and 
grantors. Some donor restrictions are temporary in nature; those restrictions will be met by 
actions of The Bridge Academy, Inc. or by the passage of time. Other donor restrictions are 
perpetual in nature, whereby the donor has stipulated the funds be maintained in perpetuity.   
 
Donor restricted contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions. 
When a restriction expires, net assets are reclassified from net assets with donor restrictions to net 
assets without donor restrictions in the statements of activities.   
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

JUNE 30, 2023 
 
Accounts and Grants Receivable 
 
Accounts and grants receivable are stated at unpaid balances, less an allowance for doubtful accounts. 
The School provides for losses on accounts and grants receivable using the allowance method. The 
allowance is based on a combination of write-off history, aging analysis and any specifically known 
troubled accounts. It is the School’s policy to charge off uncollectible accounts and grants receivable 
when management determines the receivable will not be collected. Management has concluded that an 
allowance is not required on June 30, 2023. 
 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment is stated at cost, or, if donated, at fair value at the date of donation. Depreciation 
of property and equipment is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives, 
which are generally between 5 and 27.5 years. Purchases or donations of property and equipment of less 
than $1,000 are generally expensed.  
 
The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend 
assets lives are not included in the general fixed assets account group. 
 
Compensated Absences 
 
Under the School's policies, teachers earn 15 days of sick leave pay in each school year. All unused sick 
leave accumulates from year to year without limitation for each continuous year of employment. The Board 
of Directors approved recognition and credit of accumulated unused sick days earned prior to employment at 
the School. Unused sick leave is paid only upon formal retirement from the School and not at termination of 
service. Because the payment of non-vested accumulated sick pay benefits depends on retirement, 
specifically from the School, no liability has been accrued in these financial statements for such payments. 
Vacation leave vests with the employee and is required to be taken within the fiscal year earned. 
Expenditures for compensated absences are recognized in the current year to the extent they are paid during 
the year, or the vested amount is expected to be paid with available resources. 
 
Contributed Goods and Services 
 
Donated goods and services are recognized as contributions if the services either create or enhance non-
financial assets, or require specialized skills, are performed by people with those skills and would otherwise 
be purchased by the School if not donated. Numerous volunteers have donated time to the School’s 
programs. However, the general volunteer services did not meet the criteria for recognition in the financial 
statements for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets 
 
U.S. GAAP requires that long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets be reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may 
not be recoverable. Recoverability of the long-lived assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying 
amount of the assets to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. No  
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

impairment losses have been recorded to date. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
A portion of the Organization’s revenue is derived from cost-reimbursable federal and state contracts and 
grants, which are conditioned upon certain performance requirements and/ or the incurrence of allowable 
qualifying expenses. Amounts received are recognized as revenue when the Organization has incurred 
expenditures in compliance with specific contract or grant provisions. Amounts received prior to incurring 
qualifying expenditures are reported as refundable advances in the statement of financial position. 
 
Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give to the School that is, in substance, 
unconditional. Contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported as increases in net assets without 
donor restrictions if the restrictions expire in the fiscal year in which the contributions are received. All other 
donor-restricted contributions are reported as increases in donor restricted net assets depending on the nature 
of the restrictions. When a restriction expires or is otherwise satisfied, donor restricted assets are reclassified 
to net assets without donor restrictions. 
 
In-kind Donations 
 
There were $71,922 in In-kind services for salaries and related benefits from the City of Bridgeport for the 
year ended June 30, 2023. All donated services were utilized by the School’s programs and supporting 
services. There were no donor-imposed restrictions associated with the donated services and assets. 
 
Functional Expenses 
 
The School allocates its expenses on a functional basis among its program, management and general and 
fundraising activities. Expenses that can be specifically identified with a program or support service are 
allocated directly according to their natural classifications. Other expenses that are common to several 
functions are allocated based on estimates made by management. The School has adopted and follows a cost 
allocation plan in accordance with Connecticut state regulations. 
 
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes 
  
The School is generally exempt from income tax under section 501(c)(3) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. 
The School recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not to be 
sustained. Management has determined that the School had no uncertain tax positions that would require 
financial statement recognition or disclosure. The School is no longer subject to examinations by the 
applicable taxing jurisdictions for periods prior to July 1, 2020. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
Actual results could differ from management’s estimates. Some of the more significant estimates required to 
be made by management include the allowance for uncollectible receivables and allocation of certain 
functional expenses 
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

JUNE 30, 2023 
 
Changes in Accounting Policy / Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements  
 
In February 2016, FASB issues ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). FASB ASC 842 supersedes the 
lease requirements in FASB ASC 840. Under FASB ASC 842, lessees are required to recognize assets 
and liabilities on the balance sheet for most leases and provide enhanced disclosures. The School adopted 
FASB ASC 842, with a date of initial application of July 1, 2022, by applying the modified retrospective 
transition approach and using the additional transition method provided by ASU No. 2018-11, Leases 
(Topic 842): Targeted Improvements. The School did not restate prior periods under FASB ASC 840 and 
instead evaluated whether a cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings as of July 1, 2022, was 
necessary for the cumulative impact of adoption of FASB ASC 842. The most significant effects of 
adopting FASB ASC 842 was the recognition of $1,506,765 of finance lease right-of-use assets, and a 
total of $1,164,611 of finance lease liabilities as of July 1, 2022. No cumulative effect adjustment to 
retained earnings as of July 1, 2022, was necessary. FASB 842 did not have a significant effect on the 
results of operations or cash flows for the year ended June 30, 2023.    
 
As a part of the transition, the School implemented new internal controls and key system functionality to 
enable the preparation of financial information on adoption and elected to apply the following practical 
expedients:  
 

 Election not to reassess whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases  
 Election not to reassess the lease classification for any expired or existing leases  
 Election not to reassess initial direct costs on any existing leases  

 
Note 3 – Concentrations of Credit Risk 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the School to significant concentrations of credit risk consist 
principally of cash. At times, cash balances held at financial institutions may be in excess of federally 
insured limits. The School has not experienced any losses in its cash deposits. 
 
A significant portion of the School’s support and revenue is from government agencies. As with all 
government funding, these grants may be subject to reduction or termination in future years. Any 
significant reduction in these grants could have a negative impact on the School’s program services. 
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

JUNE 30, 2023 
 
Note 4 – Liquidity and Availability of Financial Assets  
 
The following represents The Bridge Academy, Inc.’s financial assets at June 30, 2023: 

Financial assets at year end:
Cash 65,107$        
Accounts and grants receivable 113,524        

Total financial assets 178,631        

Less amounts not available to be used within one year
  Net assets with donor restrictions 52,610          
  Less net assets with purpose restrictions to 
    be met in less than a year (52,610)         

-                
Financial assets available to meet general expenditures
  over the next twelve months 178,631$      

 
The Bridge Academy, Inc. manages its liquidity by closely monitoring cash and receivables.  Any excess 
cash is held until it is required for operational use. The Bridge Academy, Inc. has a $200,000 line of credit 
as of the year ended June 30, 2023.  
 
Note 5 – Property, plant and equipment, net 
 
Property, plant and equipment, net consisted of the following at June 30, 2023: 

  
 

2023
Building and improvements 2,269,155$   
Equipment 283,656

2,552,811
Accumulated depreciation (1,195,468)    

Net 1,357,343$   
 

 
Note 6 – Financing Lease Obligations 
 
The School entered a finance lease dated March 1, 2005 for land and building in Bridgeport, Connecticut 
occupied by the School with an original balance of $2,642,400 and monthly principal and interest payments 
of $10,833. The lease has an effective interest rate of 3.395% with a bargain purchase option of $1 at the end 
of term through August 2033, which management intends to exercise. Additionally, the School entered into a 
60-month financing lease dated November 1, 2022, expiring in November of 2027, in which the School 
leases a copier. The lease requires monthly payments of $89 and has an implicit interest rate of 3%. 
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

JUNE 30, 2023 
 
Following is a summary of property held under the finance leases: 
 

June 30,2023
Lease Expense
Finance Lease Expenses 

Amortization of ROU Assets 107,387$                
Interest on Lease liabilities 36,142                    

Total 143,529$                

Other Information 
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities 

Operating cash flows from finance lease (i.e. interest) 36,225$            
Financing cash flows from finance lease (i.e. principal) 94,403$            

ROU assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities 5,000$              
Weighted-average remaining lease term in years for finance lease 10.00                
Weighted-average discount rate for finance leases 3.40%

Finance Lease
Maturity Analysis Payments Interest Net

2024 131,000$                38,007$        92,993$            
2025 131,000                  34,629          96,371              
2026 131,000                  31,135          99,865              
2027 131,000                  27,521          103,479            
2028 131,446                  23,787          107,659            
Thereafter 723,724                  59,480          664,244            

Total Lease Payments 1,379,170$             214,559$      1,164,611$       

 
 
Note 7 – Revolving Line of Credit 
 
On August 5, 2016, the School obtained a $200,000 revolving demand note (“Note”) with a bank which was 
extended from March 1, 2023 to March 1, 2024, under the same terms. The Note requires monthly payments 
of interest only on outstanding advances equal to 2% above the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate with a 
minimum rate of 5% per annum. The Bridge Academy, Inc. had no outstanding balance as of June 30, 2023. 
The Note grants the bank security interest in substantially all assets of the School and requires the  
maintenance of certain financial covenants (as defined).  
 
Note 8 – Retirement Plan 
 
The faculty and professional personnel of the School are provided with pensions through the State  

 



 

14 
 

THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

JUNE 30, 2023 
 
Teachers’ Retirement System (the “System”), a cost-sharing, multiemployer defined benefit pension plan  
administered by the Connecticut State Teacher’s Retirement Board established under Section 167a of the  
 
Connecticut General statutes. Teachers are required to contribute 7.25% of their annual salary, while the 
State of Connecticut is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate, which may be reduced by 
an act of State Legislature. Administrative costs of the plan are funded by the State of Connecticut. The 
School has no obligation under this plan. 
 
The risks of participating in a multiemployer defined benefit pension plan are different from single-
employer plans because: assets contributed to the multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to 
provide benefits to employees of other participating employers,  if a participating employer stops  
contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be required to be borne by the  
remaining participating employers, and if the School chooses to stop participating in one of its 
multiemployer plans, it may be required to pay a withdrawal liability to the plan. In connection with 
ongoing renegotiation of collective bargaining agreements, the School may discuss and negotiate for the 
complete or partial withdrawal from one or more multiemployer pension plan. Depending on the number 
of employees withdrawn in any future period and the financial condition of the multiemployer plan at the  

 
time of withdrawal, the associated withdrawal liabilities could be material to the School’s change in net 
assets in the period of the withdrawal. The School has no plans to withdraw from its multiemployer 
pension plans. 
 
During 2016, two teachers of the School, meeting certain requirements, opted to participate in the Early 
Retirement Income Plan (“ERIP”) offered by the Connecticut State Teachers’ Retirement Board. Under 
this program the teachers, if approved, are eligible for additional service credit based on the number of 
years’ service. The additional service credit is a liability of the School. The School has the option of 
paying the liability in one lump sum or installments including interest. The School opted to pay the 
liability in installments. 
 
The following table represents the payments due under ERIP at June 30, 2023: 
 
 

2024 12,045$                 
2025 12,045                   
2026 12,046                   

36,136$                 
 

Note 9 - Economic Dependency 
 
The School received approximately 95% of its funding from the State of Connecticut and the Federal 
government for the year ended June 30, 2023 to fund the operations of the charter school programs. 
 
Note 10 - Risks and Uncertainties  
 
The School’s financial position, operations, cash flows and financial performance are recovering from the  
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

JUNE 30, 2023 
 
ongoing coronavirus pandemic which has spread globally and adversely affected economic conditions 
throughout the world. The amount of the impact to future results of operations, cash flows, or financial 
conditions, cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. Finances have varied throughout several categories,  
 
which would lead to an inaccurate depiction of the school’s future results of operations, cash flows, or 
financial conditions. 
 
Note 11 – Subsequent Events 
 
Management has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure and/or recognition in the financial statements 
through the date the financial statements were available to be issued, which date is September 30, 2023.  
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING 
STANDARDS 

 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report  
 
To the Board of Education of  
The Bridge Academy, Inc.  
Bridgeport, CT  
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of The Bridge Academy as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise The Bridge 
Academy’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 30, 2023. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered The Bridge Academy’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of The Bridge Academy’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of The Bridge Academy’s 
internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
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deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether The Bridge Academy’s financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 
was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our 
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 

 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
Henry, Raymond & Thompson, LLC 
 
Henry, Raymond & Thompson, LLC  
South Windsor, CT  
September 30, 2023 
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE 

 IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Board of Education of  
The Bridge Academy, Inc.  
Bridgeport, CT  
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited The Bridge Academy’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified 
as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on 
each of The Bridge Academy’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. The Bridge 
Academy’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
 
In our opinion, The Bridge Academy complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the 
year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.  
 
We are required to be independent of The Bridge Academy and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 
in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each 
major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of The Bridge Academy’s 
compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to The Bridge 
Academy’s federal programs. 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on The Bridge Academy’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on 
compliance about The Bridge Academy’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal 
program as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding The Bridge Academy’s compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of The Bridge Academy’s internal control over compliance relevant to 

the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test 
and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of The Bridge Academy’s internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
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federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, 
as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance may exist that were not identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  
 
Henry, Raymond & Thompson, LLC 
 
Henry, Raymond & Thompson, LLC  
South Windsor, CT  
September 30, 2023 
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     THE BRIDGE ACADEMY 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program or 
Cluster-Title

Federal Assitance 
Listing Number 

Pass-Through 
Entity Number

 Federal 
Expenditures 

United States Department of Education:
Pass -through programs from the State of Connecticut 
Board of Education:

Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grant - Title 
IV, Part A 84.424A 12060-22854-2022 12,307$               
American Rescure Plan - Elementary and Secondary 
School Emergency Relief (ARP ESSER) 84.425U 12060-29636-2021 255,000               
ARP ESSER Innovation After School 84.425U 115,000               
Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund 
(ESSER) 84.425D 12060-29571-2021 85,000                 
ARP ESSER Homeless Children and Youth (HCY) II 84.425W 7,139                   
English Language Acquisition Grant - Title III, Part A 84.365 1,167                   
Supporting Effective Instruction Grant - Title II, Part A 84.367A 21,786                 
21st CCLC Afterschool Grant 84.287 150,000               
Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies - Title I, Part A 84.010A 12060-20679-2022 174,179               

Total U.S. Department of Education 821,578$             

United States Department of Agriculture: 
Passed through the State of Connecticut Department of 
Education: Child Nutirition Cluster 

School Breakfast Program (SBP) 10.553 27,375$               
National School Lunch Program (NLSP) 10.555 99,062                 
Pandemic EBT Food benefits 10.542 628                      
Supply Chain Assistance 10.555 16,670                 

Total United States Department of Agriculture 143,735$             

Federal Communications Commission 

Emergency Connectivity Fund 32.009 7,938$                 

Total Federal Communications Commission 7,938$                 

United States Department of Treasury 

ARPA - School Mental Health Workers 21.027 13,723$               

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 986,974$             
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     THE BRIDGE ACADEMY 
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the “Schedule”) includes the federal grant 
activity of The Bridge Academy under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of the Uniform Guidance, 
Audit of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.  Because the Schedule presents only a 
selected portion of the operations of The Bridge Academy, it is not intended to and does not present the 
financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of The Bridge Academy. 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.  Such expenditures 
are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, Cost Principals for Non-
Profit Organizations, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement.  Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available. 
 
INDIRECT COST RECOVERY 
 
The Bridge Academy has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate provided under section 
200.414 of the Uniform Guidance.     
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS  ̶  FEDERAL AWARDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
Section I - Summary of Auditor’s Results 
 
Financial Statements 
Type of auditor's report issued:        Unmodified 
 
Internal control over financial reporting: 
• Material weakness(es) identified?                                              __ Yes              X  No 
 
• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?                                         _  Yes             X  none reported 
 
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?                            _  Yes             X  No 
 
Federal Awards 
Internal control over major federal programs: 
• Material weakness(es) identified?                                         _ Yes             X  No 
 
• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?                                         _ Yes             X none reported 
 
 
Type of auditor's report issued on compliance  
for major federal programs:                                                                  Unmodified 
 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required 
  to be reported in accordance with Section  
  510(a) of the Uniform Guidance?                                                        _  Yes            X No 
 
Identification of major federal programs: 
FAL Number(s):  
84.425U – ARP ESSER 
84.425D – ESSER II 
 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
  Type A and Type B programs:       $750,000 
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee         _ Yes            X No 
  
Section II - Financial Statement Findings 
 
No Findings 
 
Section III - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 
 
No findings  
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Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program; 
Report on Internal Control over Compliance; and Report on the Schedule of 

Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Required by the State Single Audit Act 
 
 
To the Board of Education of  
The Bridge Academy, Inc.  
Bridgeport, CT  
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major State Program 
 
We have audited The Bridge Academy’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified 
as subject to audit in the Office of Policy and Management’s Compliance Supplement that could have a 
direct and material effect on each of The Bridge Academy’s major state programs for the year ended June 
30, 2023. The Bridge Academy’s major state programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ results 
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. In our opinion, The Bridge 
Academy complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above that 
could have a direct and material effect on each of its major state programs for the year ended June 30, 
2023. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major State Program 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the 
State Single Audit Act (C.G.S Sections 4-230 to 4-236). Our responsibilities under those standards 
and the State Single Audit Act are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of Compliance section of our report. We are required to be independent of The Bridge Academy and to 
meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our 
audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion on compliance for each major state program. Our audit does not provide a legal 
determination of The Bridge Academy’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to The Bridge Academy’s state programs. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on The Bridge Academy’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the State Single Audit will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user of the report on compliance about The Bridge Academy’s compliance with the 
requirements of each major state program as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the State 
Single Audit Act, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding The Bridge Academy’s compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of The Bridge Academy’s internal control over compliance relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test 
and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the State Single Audit Act, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of The Bridge Academy’s 
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a state program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a state program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state 
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet 
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important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to 
identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we 
did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be 
material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements 
of the State Single Audit Act. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
Report on Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Required by the State 
Single Audit Act 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Bridge Academy as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2023, and have issued our report thereon dated September 30, 2023, which contained an unmodified 
opinion on those financial statements. Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on 
the financial statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of state financial 
assistance is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the State Single Audit Act and is 
not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and 
was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of 
the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of 
expenditures of state financial assistance is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole. 
 
Henry, Raymond & Thompson, LLC 
Henry, Raymond & Thompson, LLC  
South Windsor, CT  
September 30, 2023 
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 THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 

State Grantor Pass-Through Grantor 
Program Title

State Grant Program Core-CT 
Number

Passed through to 
Subrecipients

Total 
Expenditures

Connecticut Department of Education

State Charter Schools 11000-SDE64000-16119 -$                         3,431,960$      

Health Foods Initiative 11000-SDE64000-16212 -                           2,089               

State lunch matching funds 1100-SDE64000-16212 1,099               

State breakfast matching funds 11000-SDE64000-16212 -                           2,662               

-$                         3,437,810$      Total Expenditures of State Financial Assistance
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES 

OF STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

 
Note 1 – Basis of Presentation 
 
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance includes state grant activity of 
The Bridge Academy, Inc. under programs of the State of Connecticut for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2023.  Various departments and agencies of the State of Connecticut have provided financial assistance 
through grants and other authorizations in accordance with the General Statutes of the State of Connecticut.  
These financial assistance programs fund the operation of a state charter school. 
 
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The accounting policies of The Bridge Academy, Inc. conform to accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America as applicable to not-for-profit organizations. The information in the Schedule is 
presented based on regulations established by the State of Connecticut Office of Policy and Management. 
 
The financial statements contained in The Bridge Academy, Inc.’s annual audit report are prepared on the 
accrual basis of accounting. The following is a summary of such basis: 
 

 Revenues are recognized when earned. 
 

 Expenditures are recorded when incurred. 
 
Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance 
 
The expenditures reported on the Schedule are presented on the accrual basis of accounting. For cost-
reimbursement awards, expenditures have been recognized to the extent of allowable costs incurred. For 
performance-based awards, expenditures reported represent amounts earned. 
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THE BRIDGE ACADEMY, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 
I. SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 
 
Financial Statements 
 
Type of auditor’s opinion issued: 

  
 
Unmodified 

     
Internal control over financial reporting:     
 Material weakness(es) identified? __ Yes X No 
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  

 
__ Yes X None reported 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? __ Yes X No 
     
State Financial Assistance     
     
Internal control over major programs:     

 Material weakness(es) identified? __ Yes X No 
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  __ Yes X None reported 

     
Type of auditor’s opinion issued on compliance for major 
programs: 

 Unmodified 

     
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported 
in accordance with Section 4-236-24 of the Regulations to  
the State Single Audit Act? 

__ Yes X No 

     
 

 The following schedule reflects the major programs included in the audit 
 

State Grantor and Program State Core-CT Number
Total 

Expenditures

Connecticut Department of Education:
State Charter Schools 11000-SDE64000-16119 3,431,960$      

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and 
Type B programs 200,000$         
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II. FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 
 
 No findings 
 

III. STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
  
 No findings 
 

IV. PRIOR PERIOD FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 
 
 No findings  
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